

Université d'Ottawa • University of Ottawa

The Influence of Social and Psychological Determinants on Physical Education Teachers' Interpersonal Style

by

Alexandre Picard

Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies and Research in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Degree of Master of Arts in Human Kinetics

School of Human Kinetics

University of Ottawa

Ottawa, Canada

June 2000

C Alexandre Picard, Ottawa, Canada, 2000



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-58494-1

Canadä

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

After working for almost two years on this thesis, I have come to realize that fulfilling the requirements for a Master's degree is a great achievement. Also, I have learned that without help, whether it is mentally, physically, and/or emotionally, it is impossible to accomplish such a task. This is the reason why I want to acknowledge and thank the people that enabled me to arrive at the end of this journey.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Michelle Fortier who was present through the process from the very beginning. I would like to tell you how much I am grateful for all the support, advice, time and encouragement you have given me. Without you, I would not have had the opportunity to live this enriching experience at its fullest and I want you to know that I greatly appreciate everything you did for me.

I cannot forget the members of my committee, Dr. Diane Ste-Marie and Dr. Charlotte Beaudoin. I want to thank you for your useful insights, comments and suggestions that helped me making this thesis a better work. Most of all, thanks for wanting to be involved in this research and for the time you devoted.

Also, I would like to thank Carol Thibault from the Ottawa-Carleton Catholic School Board for her very useful actions in the data collection process. Indeed, you made my life so much easier by distributing the questionnaire to many physical education teachers in your school board. I really enjoyed the fact that you contributed in your own way to this project even though you were very busy at the time.

Still in the school realm, I want to thank everyone in the research lab that was going through a similar experience. John Kowal for being my co-supervisor as well as Stéphane, Julie, Lynne, Robin and Leanne for their specific contributions in my life during the last two years. I don't think that a simple thanks is enough for my family, Bob, Suzanne and Sébastien who have been supporting me through a lot more than just my Master's thesis. It was very important to know that they were wishing me the best and helping in every way possible to assist me achieve my goal.

Finally, there are many people that helped me in their own personal way to go through the process. Thanks especially to Marie France, Derek, Annie, Phil, Dany, Cara and everyone that I did not mentioned at this point in time but that influenced and enabled me to make it this far.

To all of you, THANK YOU!!!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AKNOWLEDGMENTS	ii
ABSTRACT	vi
CHAPTER I	1
Introduction Organization of the Remainder of the Proposal	1 5
CHAPTER II	6
Review of literature	6
Interpersonal Style	6
Self-Determination Theory	8
Cognitive Evaluation Theory	10
The Influence of Interpersonal Style on Motivation	12
Determinants of Interpersonal Style	15
The Influence of the Working Climate on Interpersonal Style	16
The Influence of One's Own Motivation on One's Interpersonal Style The Influence of the Perceptions of Subordinates'/Students'	18
Motivation on Interpersonal Style	20
The Present Study	23
Purpose	23
Hypotheses	23
Significance of the Study	24
CHAPTER III	26
Methodology	26
Procedures	26
Data Collection 1 (Grant Project)	26
Data Collection 2 (Additional Participants)	27
Participants	27
Questionnaire	27
Measuring Physical Education Teachers' Interpersonal Style	28
Measuring the Determinants of physical education teachers'	
interpersonal style	28
Perceptions of the Work Climate	28
Teachers' Motivation Towards Their Career	29
Teachers' Motivation Towards Physical Activity	30
Perceptions of Students' Motivation Towards Physical Activity	31

	v
CHAPTER IV	33
Results	33
Correlations	33
Multiple Regression	34
CHAPTER V	35
Discussion	35
Overview of Results	36
Limitations	40
Future Research	42
Practical Applications	44
Conclusions	45
REFERENCES	47
APPENDIX	54
Table 1	64
Figure 1	66

ABSTRACT

This correlational research investigated the social and psychological determinants of physical education teachers' interpersonal style. This thesis was based on the theoretical framework from Deci and Ryan's (1985, 1991) Cognitive Evaluation Theory (CET). This research was examining the influence of (a) the teachers' perceptions of their working climate, (b) teachers' own motivation toward physical activity, (c) teachers' own motivation toward their career, and (d) teachers' perceptions of their students' motivation towards physical activity on the physical education teachers interpersonal style (autonomy supportive versus controlling interpersonal style). 48 physical education teachers from two school boards in the Ottawa region decided to fill out a questionnaire. Data were analyzed using multiple regression in order to find relationships between the determinants of interpersonal style and physical education teachers' interpersonal style. The findings from this research revealed that one hypothesis out of four was supported. The limitations of the study are discussed and future research ideas are provided.

CHAPTER I

Introduction

Much research over the last decade has examined motivation towards physical activity (e.g., Amorose & Horn, 2000; Goudas, Biddle, Fox, & Underwood, 1995; Vallerand, Deci, & Ryan, 1987). Indeed, developing motivation toward physical activity is one of the major objectives of many secondary school physical education programs (Pangrazi & Dauer, 1992). In fact, it is believed that physical education programs promoting positive attitudes in youths will increase the likelihood of adopting and maintaining an active lifestyle (Hellison & Templin, 1991).

According to Sallis et al. (1992), the probability of having a health impact with children and adolescents is better in schools because they can all be reached in this context, as an existing infrastructure is already in place. Furthermore, of the wide array of social factors that may potentially have an influence in the physical education context, the physical education teachers' interpersonal style seems to be of paramount importance on influencing students motivation (Goudas et al., 1995).

According to numerous researchers (e.g., Deci, Connell, & Ryan, 1989; Ryan & Stiller, 1991), interpersonal style can be divided into two main types: a controlling style, in which the significant other acts in a coercive, pressuring, autocratic way; and an autonomy supportive style where the significant other supports freedom, encourages autonomy, is democratic, and involves individuals in the decision process.

Several studies have shown that significant others' (e.g., teachers, coaches, parents, superiors) interpersonal style is an important determinant of youth's motivation (e.g., Deci & Ryan, 1991; Ryan & Grolnick, 1986). One study by Deci, Schwartz, Sheinman, and Ryan (1981) revealed that students who were with autonomy supportive teachers

experienced an increase in their intrinsic motivation, whereas those who were with controlling teachers experienced a decrease in intrinsic motivation. This indicates the positive effects of an autonomy supportive style and the negative effects controlling style on one's motivation. Many other studies have found similar results (e.g., Blanchard, Perreault, & Pelletier, 1993; Deci, Spiegel, Ryan, Koestner, & Kauffman, 1982; Enzle, Wright, & Redondo, 1996).

One theory of paramount importance in the domain of motivation that can explain the results from the previously mentioned studies is Self-Determination Theory (SDT; Deci & Ryan, 1985; 1991). According to SDT, when a social context is autonomy supportive, individuals are inherently motivated to partake in the activities (i.e. are motivated in a self-determined fashion), whereas when the context is controlling, individuals are motivated to engage in the activities for external reasons (i.e. are motivated in a non self-determined way). More specific to the aim of the present study, and within the framework of SDT, is an important sub-theory, that of Cognitive Evaluation Theory (CET). This theory postulates that events (e.g., an autonomy supportive interpersonal style) which increase feelings of competence and/or feelings of autonomy increase selfdetermined motivation. Conversely, events that decrease feelings of competence and/or feelings of autonomy (e.g., a controlling interpersonal style) undermine self-determined motivation (Deci & Ryan, 1985; 1991). According to CET, a controlling interpersonal style fosters an external locus of causality and thereby undermines feelings of autonomy and consequently, self-determination. Conversely, an autonomy-supportive style should bring about an internal locus of causality and subsequently enhance feelings of autonomy and promote self-determined forms of motivation.

Although several investigations have measured the influence of significant others' (e.g., teachers, coaches, parents, superiors) interpersonal style on others' motivation, few studies have assessed the factors that lead a significant other to adopt a specific interpersonal style (i.e. the determinants of the interpersonal style). In addition, of those studies, very few have examined multiple determinants simultaneously, particularly in the physical activity contexts. Therefore, the purpose of the present study was to examine the determinants of physical education teachers' interpersonal style.

Based on past literature (Blanchard et al., 1993; Blais, Brière, Lachance, Riddle, & Vallerand, 1993; Flink, Bogganio, & Barrett, 1990), four different determinants were studied: (a) the physical education teachers' perceptions of their working climate; (b) the physical education teachers' motivation towards their career; (c) the physical education teachers' motivation towards physical activity; and (d) the physical education teachers' perceptions of their students' motivation towards physical activity.

Four hypotheses were formulated. With regards to the first determinant, it was hypothesized that (a) when physical education teachers perceive their working climate as being autonomy supportive, they will be more likely to adopt an autonomy supportive style with their physical education students whereas, when they perceive the working climate as being controlling, they will be more likely to adopt a controlling style.

For the second determinant, it was hypothesized that (b) physical education teachers motivated in a self-determined way toward their career will exhibit a more autonomy supportive interpersonal style in the physical education context whereas, physical education teachers motivated in a non self-determined way toward their career will show a more controlling interpersonal style in this context. For the third determinant, it was hypothesized that (c) physical education teachers motivated in a self-determined way toward physical activity will demonstrate a more autonomy supportive interpersonal style in the physical education context whereas, physical education teachers motivated in a non self-determined way toward physical activity will demonstrate a more controlling interpersonal style in this context.

And for the final determinant, it was hypothesized that (d) when physical education teachers perceive their students as being motivated in a self-determined way towards physical activity, they will be more likely to adopt an autonomy supportive interpersonal style whereas, when they perceive their students as being motivated in a non selfdetermined way in the physical education context, they will be more likely to adopt a controlling interpersonal style.

The present study was of importance because of its contribution to the domain of physical education in that it investigated physical education teachers' interpersonal style. Also, further exploration of the antecedents of interpersonal style enables a better comprehension of the determinants of the interpersonal style adopted. By looking at multiple determinants of the interpersonal style in a physical activity context, this study was examining an aspect of the literature that has not been researched extensively in the past. This research contributes to the body of knowledge related to physical education teaching and could potentially be helpful in promoting specific behaviors when educating future teachers by incorporating this literature in their programs. Finally, having more knowledge about the influence of determinants of interpersonal style is very important because it will enable people, particularly teachers, to better understand the relationship between the determinants of interpersonal style and the actual style that they adopt

Organization of the Remainder of the Proposal

The remainder of this proposal is organized into four chapters. Chapter II contains a presentation of the motivational theory that is at the foundation of this study, namely CET (Deci & Ryan, 1985, 1991). It also contains a review of literature on the determinants of interpersonal style. Finally, it contains a description of the present study in which the hypotheses and the significance of the study are presented. Chapter III describes the methodology and procedures that were used for the research. Furthermore, the questionnaire is thoroughly explained. Chapter IV presents the results obtained from the correlations and multiple regression. Finally, Chapter V discusses the results with respect to each hypothesis, what was postulated, what was found and what these findings seem to indicate. In addition, it outlines the limitations of the study, proposes suggestions for future research, discusses the practical implications, and recapitulates the essence of the study in a brief conclusion.

CHAPTER II

Review of Literature

Significant others (e.g., parents, coaches, teachers) have been found to consistently influence youth's motivation, emotions and behaviors (e.g., Brophy, 1986; Goudas et al., 1995). One way in which these individuals exert their impact is through their interpersonal style. For instance, research in education (e.g., Grolnick, Ryan, & Deci, 1991; Pelletier, Fortier, Vallerand, & Brière, 2000) and in the physical activity domain (Fortier, Kowal, Grenier, & Leblanc, 1996; Vallerand, Deci, & Ryan, 1987) has shown that social agents' interpersonal style has an important impact on youth's motivational orientation.

Interpersonal Style

According to Deci, Connell, & Ryan (1989), interpersonal style can be divided into two main types: an autonomy supportive style and a controlling style (also see Deci & Ryan, 1987; Ryan & Stiller, 1991). The autonomy supportive style is where the significant other supports freedom, encourages autonomy, offers choices, and involves individuals in the decision process. Autonomy support has generally been associated with greater interest, less pressure and tension, more creativity, higher self-esteem, more trust, greater persistence of behavior change, and better physical and psychological health.

On the other hand, a controlling style is one in which the significant other acts in a coercive and pressuring way, uses rewards and constraints to influence behavior and does not take individuals' opinions into account. A controlling interpersonal style can be described as instances in which a significant other pressure people toward specified outcomes, thereby undermining their personal choice. These instances have a negative influence on one's motivation and thus, an affect on one interpersonal style. Both

interpersonal style have been studied in different domains an most research found that an autonomy supportive interpersonal style should have more positive affects on an individual's motivation than a controlling interpersonal style.

Educational research has focused on teacher behaviors that should be effective in promoting student motivation (Flink, Boggiano, and Barrett, 1990). A wide array of teachers' behaviors has been suggested. For example, teachers can support autonomy by allowing children latitude in their learning activities and by providing connections between school activities and children's interests. Especially important for the teacher is to foster autonomy in the absence of external rewards, controls, and pressures. One way a teacher can induce an autonomy climate in a class is to give students the chance to express their opinion, creativity and ideas in an interactive context.

It is important to mention that in the pedagogical/educational literature, interpersonal style is described and termed differently. In fact, many researchers (Artaud, 1989; Florence, Brunelle & Carlier, 1998) in this realm define three main types of interpersonal style. The first one, described as normative or authoritarian is a style where a teacher imposes orders in an autocratic way and establishes consequences if the requirements are not satisfied. Thus this style would be similar to the controlling interpersonal style previously explained. A second type, described as interactive or affirmative is a style where a teacher expresses his or her expectations and opens up to the class in order to know the students needs and expectations and thus, would be similar to the autonomy supportive interpersonal style previously defined. A third type called libertarian or permissive is a style where a teacher ignores the students, lets the students figure out solutions, where there is an absence of support of the students, a general laissezfaire attitude and no proactive assistance from the teacher. Also in the leadership/coaching literature, other terms are used to describe interpersonal style. An autocratic interpersonal style is where a coach, for example, pressures athletes toward particular outcomes and is thus similar to the controlling interpersonal style. A democratic interpersonal style is where a coach, for example, encourages athletes to make their own choices and is thus similar to the autonomy supportive style (Black & Weiss, 1992; Pelletier, Fortier, Vallerand, Tuson, Brière, & Blais, 1995). However, for the purpose of this study, only two styles were investigated and the terms used to describe them are the controlling interpersonal style and autonomy supportive interpersonal style.

Self-Determination Theory

A theory of paramount importance in the domain of motivation is Self-Determination Theory (SDT; Deci & Ryan, 1985, 1991). According to this theory, two main types of motivation exist, namely, self-determined motivation and non selfdetermined motivation. An individual who engages in an activity (for instance physical education) for pleasure, satisfaction, enjoyment or by choice is described as a selfdetermined individual. On the other hand, an individual who engages in this activity because of external sources or internal pressures or is simply not motivated to participate is an example of a non self-determined individual. Although these are the two main types of motivation, depending on the intensity of the self-determination an individual experiences, there has been three distinct types of motivation that have been differentiated, namely: intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation and amotivation.

Intrinsic motivation is experienced when one practices a particular activity just for the sake of participating in it and for the pleasure one would get from doing this activity (Brière, Vallerand, Blais & Pelletier, 1995). For example, a student that partakes in a physical education class for the pleasure of acquiring new skills, knowledge or simply for fun would be intrinsically motivated. Building upon the work of Deci & Ryan (1985, 1991), Vallerand et al. (1989, 1992, 1993) suggested the existence of three types of intrinsic motivation: intrinsic motivation to know, intrinsic motivation toward accomplishments, and intrinsic motivation to experience stimulation (see Pelletier et al., 1995 for further elaboration on these three types).

The second category of motivation is extrinsic motivation. According to Deci and Ryan (1985), extrinsic motivation occurs when an individual participates in an activity as a means to an end. For instance, when a physical education teacher teaches physical education for the money, the motivation is extrinsic in nature. Furthermore, Deci and Ryan (1985, 1991) have proposed three types of extrinsic motivation: external regulation. introjected regulation, and identified regulation. External regulation refers to one's behavior being controlled by external sources, for example, an athlete performing an activity in order to obtain rewards (e.g., praise) from the coach. Introjected regulation refers to one's behavior being controlled by internal pressures such as guilt or anxiety, for instance, an athlete engaging in physical activity for aesthetic reasons. Identified regulation refers to one's behavior performed out of choice because the individual values it, for example, an athlete participating in an activity because he or she believes that their involvement contributes to a positive learning experience. Although it is not the intention of the present study to go in details about the different forms of extrinsic motivation, it is essential to mention that identified regulation is a self-determined type of motivation, whereas external and introjected regulation are both types of non self-determined motivation.

The third type of motivation is amotivation. Many researchers (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Seligman, 1975; Skinner, 1995) proposed that amotivation can be defined as an absence of any form of motivation (intrinsic or extrinsic). When amotivated, individuals do not perceive contingencies between their behaviors and the consequences of their actions and no longer recognize genuine justifications to pursue an activity. For example, a student wondering if he/she should continue to take physical education class because he/she finds no significant or valuable reasons to pursue the activity would represent the profile of an amotivated person towards this activity.

According to Deci and Ryan (1985, 1991), the different types of motivation can be situated on a self-determination continuum; from lower to higher levels of selfdetermination are: amotivation, external regulation, introjected regulation, identified regulation, and intrinsic motivation. Much research now supports the existence of this self-determination continuum (e.g., Blais, Sabourin, Boucher, & Vallerand, 1990; Pelletier et al., 1995; Vallerand & Bissonnette, 1992).

Many researchers (Blais et al., 1993; Pelletier et al., 2000) have recently become interested in examining individual's motivation profile (self-determined or not) instead of looking at the individual types of motivation separately. In fact, many researchers create an index where the different types of motivation are given weights based on their placement on the self-determination continuum (to be covered in the method section).

Cognitive Evaluation Theory

Within the framework of SDT is an important sub-theory, called Cognitive Evaluation Theory (CET). This theory postulates the existence of two fundamental psychological needs, perceptions of competence and perceptions of autonomy. An individual getting the information that he or she is not competent on a specific task (e.g., physical education) also discloses that he or she is unlikely to fulfill the need for competence on this activity. Thus, motivation toward this given task would be undermined. Along the same lines, feeling autonomous on a given task is likely to increase motivation, whereas feeling controlled by others should decrease an individual's motivation toward the activity. CET predicts that events which increase feelings of competence and/or feelings of autonomy also increase self-determined forms of motivation (intrinsic motivation, identified regulation), and at the same time decrease non self-determined types of motivation (introjected regulation, external regulation, amotivation). Conversely, events that decrease feelings of competence and/or feelings of autonomy correspondingly undermine self-determined types of motivation while increasing non self-determined forms of motivation (Deci & Ryan, 1985; 1991).

More specifically, according to CET, when people perceive their behaviors as being induced by external sources (e.g., a deadline, or reward), there is a change from an internal to an external perceived locus of causality. The locus of causality refers to what leads behaviors to be adopted and their regulation (Pelletier et al., 1999). People that perceive their behaviors as being freely chosen experience an internal locus of causality. On the other hand, people that perceive that their behaviors are attributed to external factors responsible for their activation will experience an external locus of causality. Thus, when people partake in an activity for reasons other than the sake of the activity itself, for instance because of a deadline or a reward, a shift from an internal to an external locus of causality will result. This change decreases one's feelings of autonomy in the activity and, in turn, undermines self-determined forms of motivation while increasing non self-determined forms of motivation. According to CET, a controlling interpersonal style, as other controlling events (e.g., rewards, deadlines) fosters an external locus of causality and thereby undermines feelings of autonomy and consequently, self-determination. By way of comparison, an autonomy-supportive style leads one to feel as if one is the source of its own behavior. This will bring about an internal locus of causality and subsequently enhance feelings of autonomy and promote self-determined forms of motivation. The individual will feel as if participating in a specific activity results solely from personal satisfaction. On the other hand, a controlling interpersonal style is characterized by the use of constraints that leads one to behave in a certain way. The individual will feel as participating in a specific activity as a result of those constraints.

The Influence of Interpersonal Style on Motivation

Much research over the past decades has demonstrated that when significant others adopt an autonomy supportive interpersonal style, other's self-determined motivation is enhanced, whereas when significant others adopt a controlling interpersonal style, other's self-determined motivation is undermined (Deci, Nezlek & Sheinman, 1981; Flink, Bogganio & Barret, 1990; Goudas, Biddle, Fox, & Underwood, 1995; Grolnick & Ryan, 1989; Pelletier, Fortier, Vallerand, & Brière, 2000). For example, a study by Deci, Schwartz, Sheinman, and Ryan (1981) assessed teachers' level of behavior control versus autonomy support toward students. Results revealed that students who were with autonomy supportive teachers experienced an increase in their intrinsic motivation, whereas those who were with controlling teachers experienced a decrease in intrinsic motivation. Interestingly, once a change in intrinsic motivation was established, it was maintained throughout the school year. Other research in education (e.g., Gottfried, Fleming, & Gottfried, 1994; Grolnick & Ryan, 1989; Grolnick, Ryan, & Deci, 1991; Ryan & Connell, 1989; Skinner & Belmont, 1993; Vallerand, Fortier & Guay, 1997) has supported the previous studies' findings. For instance, a study showed that when students participated in an evaluation under controlling conditions (i.e., teachers using controlling strategies), they displayed lower levels of self-determined motivation and performance than when they engaged in the activity under autonomy-supportive conditions (Flink, Boggiano, & Barrett, 1990).

Always in the education realm, past research examining perceptions of teachers' style (e.g., Ryan & Grolnick, 1986) have shown that perceptions of an autonomy supportive interpersonal style foster in student self-determined forms of motivation and undermines amotivation. On the other hand, a controlling style, for example, where teachers are strictly adhering to a program and giving no latitude to the student, has been shown to undermine intrinsic motivation and identification, and foster amotivation.

Similarly, Meece (1991) found that students in different science classes displayed different goal-engagement patterns and that these were largely due to the instructional approach of the teacher. When the teacher promoted meaningful learning, adapted instruction to the personal interest of the students, and was more supportive of students' autonomy, students were more intrinsically motivated in the lessons.

In the pedagogical/education literature, Rink (1998) suggests that teaching methods such as an interactive interpersonal style (i.e., similar to autonomy-supportive style) will increase the students' intrinsic motivation. It will also enable the students to learn from the activity and grow as an individual. One way that physical education teachers can increase students' intrinsic motivation is by helping them in seeing the purpose for doing an activity, and attach a personal meaning to what they are doing. In his recommendations for the physical education teachers, Telama (1999) proposes the use of methods or teaching styles that provide students with collaborative interaction and individual responsibility in order to increase their motivation in class activities. For instance, he suggests to encourage students to organize activities by themselves, emphasize the possibility for all students to be involved and deliberately try to create a task-oriented motivational climate.

Researchers have found comparable findings in the physical activity and health context (Amorose & Horn, 2000; Black & Weiss, 1992; Williams, Grow, Freedman, Ryan, & Deci, 1996). These studies provided evidence that selected aspects of coaching behavior, such as the interpersonal style, do have an effect on the intrinsic motivation of the athletes. For example, a study conducted by Pelletier et al. (2000) showed that when athletes perceived their relationships with the coach as autonomy-supportive, greater levels of self-determined motivation occurred. Conversely, when athletes perceived their relationships with the coach as controlling, self-determined motivation was decreased.

Another study by Black & Weiss (1992) examining the relationship between perceived coaching behaviors and athletes' motivation revealed that young athletes' selfdetermined motivation was significantly related to the coaching feedback they received for performance successes and errors. In fact, feedback is an autonomy-supportive strategy used by the coaches having an influence on the athletes' motivation by increasing selfdetermined motivation.

Finally, closely related to the present study, Goudas et al. (1995) did a study on the motivational effects of different teaching styles in one sport activity. When the physical education teacher used an autonomy-supportive style, students' levels of intrinsic

motivation increased whereas, when the teacher used a controlling style, students' levels of intrinsic motivation decreased.

To summarize, several studies have found that self-determination is increased when significant other's interpersonal style is autonomy supportive. On the contrary, a controlling interpersonal style will have the effect of pressuring an individual to engage in actions because of external pressures and thus, undermine his or her self-determination.

Although several studies have been conducted on the effects of an autonomy supportive style versus a controlling style, few studies have examined the determinants of interpersonal style. That is, not much research has investigated the factors that influence an individual to adopt a specific style, whether it is autonomy supportive or a controlling interpersonal style. Therefore, the main purpose of the present study is to investigate social and psychological determinants of physical education teachers' interpersonal style.

Determinants of Interpersonal Style

Some studies have started to investigate certain determinants of interpersonal style. For instance, Blanchard, Perreault, and Pelletier (1993) looked at determinants of teachers' interpersonal style in a work context, specifically the influence of administrative constraints, the teachers' perceptions of their students' motivation and the teachers' own motivation toward their career on the interpersonal style. Although, some research has looked at factors that influence one to adopt a specific interpersonal style, very few have examined multiple determinants in a single study. Furthermore, most of these studies have been conducted mostly in education or work settings, however, the present study will attempt to do so in a physical education context.

Although not much research has been devoted to examining the factors that influence the adoption of an autonomy supportive style versus a controlling style, it has been previously suggested that the working climate, the individual's own motivation toward one's career as well as the individual's perceptions of their subordinates'/students' motivation has an influence on their interpersonal style (Blanchard et al., 1993; Deci, Spiegel, Ryan, Koestner, & Kaufmann, 1982; Flink et al., 1990). Therefore, this study will examine the influence of these determinants on interpersonal style.

The Influence of the Working Climate on Interpersonal Style

Deci and Ryan (1982a, 1982b) have suggested that environmental variables will affect whether teachers create a classroom climate that is primarily autonomy supportive or primarily controlling. When teachers are themselves pressured to achieve particular outcomes by administrative constraints or by a controlling supervisor, they may in turn become more controlling with their students. This happens because being controlled is characterized by greater rigidity and the feeling of having to do a given task under someone else's conditions. There is an intention to perform the task, but lacking is a true sense of choice undermining self-determined motivation (Deci & Ryan, 1987).

A certain number of studies examining the influence of the working climate on one's interpersonal style can be found in the literature. For example, Blais et al. (1993) found that interacting on a regular basis with a supervisor who leads one to feel incompetent (controlling supervisor) has been found to enhance amotivation toward work. In fact, if the relationship with the supervisor (i.e., working climate) is pressuring, one is more likely to be motivated in a non self-determined way, thus having an influence on the interpersonal style the supervisor will adopt.

Garbarino (1975) found that externally constrained/rewarded teachers (i.e., controlling working climate) were more critical and demanding of their students (i.e., adopted a more controlling style) than unconstrained teachers (i.e., volunteer). In

addition, results from a study by Blanchard et al. (1993) demonstrated that the more administrative constraints are perceived as controlling, the more teachers are perceived as being non self-determined. Thus, the lower the teachers' level of self-determination, the more likely they will have controlling interpersonal styles. On the contrary, the more administrative constraints are perceived as non-controlling, the more teachers are perceived as being self-determined. Thus, the higher the teachers' level of selfdetermination, the more likely that they will have autonomy supportive interpersonal styles.

According to Flink, Boggiano & Barrett (1990) pressures from superiors, expectations imposed with regards to the students' academic performance standards, and administrative politics often have the effect of restraining the autonomy perceived by the teachers. This being said, a number of studies (e.g., Flink et al., 1990) have shown that pressures being imposed on teachers would incite them to adopt more controlling interpersonal strategies. These researchers found that teachers who were externally pressured to produce good student performance were more controlling in their instructional style and less effective in their teaching than teachers who were merely asked to help their students.

It is also possible that contextual factors such as impressing upon supervisors (i.e., teachers) that they were responsible for a student performing up to high standards (Deci, Speigel, Ryan, Koestner, & Kauffman, 1982), whether or not supervisors are expected to use rewards to motivate subordinates, or whether or not supervisors are themselves rewarded (Harackiewicz & Larson, 1986) may determine whether supervisors create a climate that is primarily controlling or primarily oriented toward supporting autonomy.

A study conducted by Ryan, Mims, and Koestner (1982) found that when teachers are told they are responsible for their students' performing up to standards, the teachers themselves will experience this as pressure and respond by being more controlling with their students. These findings could have considerable implications for educational systems, for it would suggest that the more school systems pressure teachers to make the students perform up to standards, the more teachers will be controlling rather than autonomy supportive with their students, and hence the more students' intrinsic motivation and self-esteem will be undermined.

In sum, a number of studies have shown that when the working climate is controlling, teachers feel pressured and tend to become more controlling with their students. Therefore, it can be predicted that when the working climate in a school is perceived as being autonomy supportive, it is more likely that the physical education teachers' interpersonal style will be autonomy supportive. On the other hand, when the working climate in a school is controlling, that is, when the supervisors and administrative constraints are controlling, it will be more likely that the physical education teachers' interpersonal style will be controlling.

The Influence of One's Own Motivation on One's Interpersonal Style

The self-determined motivation of teachers toward their career has been found to influence their interpersonal style (Blais et al., 1993; Richer & Vallerand, 1996b). Specifically, teachers that were motivated in a self-determined way toward their career used more autonomy supportive strategies than teachers that were motivated in a non selfdetermined way toward their career. More specific to the education domain and to the present investigation, a study conducted by Blanchard et al. (1993) demonstrated that teachers who are self-determined toward their teaching have the tendency to use more autonomy supportive strategies in comparison with teachers that are non self-determined. In fact, if teachers engage in their teaching out of choice and personal satisfaction, they will experience positive feelings and will be more likely to adopt a positive approach such as an autonomy-supportive interpersonal style. However, if teachers go to work everyday because they are forced to, they will experience a more negative feeling and will be more likely to adopt a more negative approach such as a controlling interpersonal style.

Along the same lines of what has just been presented, one's self-determined motivation toward physical activity was thought to have an influence on one's interpersonal style in a physical activity context. Although no studies have been found in the literature examining this particular link, results from the previous studies (e.g., Blanchard, Perreault, & Pelletier, 1993; Goudas et al., 1995) provided sufficient information leading to the belief that one's self-determined motivation toward physical activity will influence one's interpersonal style. Indeed, because many studies have found that one's own motivation toward their career influences one's interpersonal style, it is believed that physical education teachers' own motivation toward physical activity (closely related to their career) would also affect their interpersonal style. Thus, it is possible to deduce that when a teacher is motivated in a self-determined way toward physical activity, it is more likely that this teacher will have an autonomy supportive interpersonal style. On the other hand, in a situation where one is non self-determined it is more likely that one will have a controlling interpersonal style. Moreover, if teachers usually engage in physical activity because they enjoy it, they will experience positive feelings about promoting physical activity to their students and will be more likely to adopt a positive approach such as an autonomy-supportive interpersonal style. Conversely, if teachers do physical activity because they of external pressures, they will

experience more negative feelings about physical activity and will be more likely to adopt a more negative approach with their students such as a controlling interpersonal style.

Therefore, it is be predicted that physical education teachers that are selfdetermined toward physical activity will demonstrate a more autonomy supportive interpersonal style. In turn, physical education teachers that are motivated in a non selfdetermined way toward physical activity will demonstrate a more controlling interpersonal style.

<u>The Influence of the Perceptions of Subordinates'/Students' Motivation on</u> Interpersonal Style

Another determinant of a supervisors'/teachers' interpersonal style seems to be the individuals' perception of their subordinates'/students' motivation. According to Blanchard et al. (1993), an individual's perception of a specific type of motivation of his or her students (self-determined or non self-determined) will have a tendency to influence and change his or her interpersonal style. Also, the results of that study revealed that teachers have a tendency to adopt a controlling interpersonal style when they perceived that they were interacting with non self-determined students. Conversely, they developed an autonomy supportive interpersonal style when they perceived that they were interacting with self-determined students.

A recent laboratory study by Pelletier and Vallerand (1996) has shown that to the extent that supervisors perceive subordinates to be self-determined, they were more likely to act in an autonomy-supportive way. On the other hand, perceiving subordinates as being non self-determined led supervisors to act in a more controlling way toward them.

Another study by Skinner and Belmont (1996), this time in the education domain, revealed that teachers' perceptions of students' emotional and behavioral engagement

predicted teachers' interactions with students across the school year. Strong support was found for the reciprocal effect between positive student engagement and positive teacher behaviors. Specifically, teachers responded to children who had high self-determination with more involvement, more autonomy support, and, more contingency and consistency, whereas they responded to children who were more passive (low self-determination) with correspondingly more neglect, coercion, and inconsistency.

Finally, closely related to the present study, Fortier et al. (1996) investigated the relations between physical education teachers' interpersonal style and students' selfdetermined motivation toward physical education. More specifically, they wanted to determine if physical education teachers' interpersonal style would be influenced by their students' self-determined motivation. The findings revealed an influence of students' self-determined motivation on physical education teachers' interpersonal style. Teachers whose students were self-determined showed high levels of autonomy support.

To summarize, teachers who perceive a student as being self-determined will have a tendency to adopt a more autonomy supportive interpersonal style. On the other hand, teachers who perceive a student as being non self-determined will have the tendency to adopt a more controlling interpersonal style. In fact, if teachers feel that their students are motivated with what they teach, they will be affected positively by this enthusiasm and will be more likely to adopt a positive approach such as an autonomy-supportive interpersonal style. Conversely, if teachers feel that their students are not particularly involved in class, they will be affected negatively by this pessimistic attitude and will be more likely to adopt a more negative approach with their students such as a controlling interpersonal style. As previously mentioned, although some studies (e.g., Blanchard, Perreault, & Pelletier, 1993; Goudas et al., 1995) have started to investigate certain determinants of interpersonal style, very few have examined multiple determinants in a single study. Moreover, these studies have been conducted mostly in education or work settings, however, the present study will attempt to do so in a physical education context.

It can be observed that several studies investigating the teaching styles have been conducted in a pedagogical domain, which constitutes a whole new literature by itself. However, it is very important to understand that this particular study is being conducted using a social psychology approach and motivational concepts (i.e., SDT and CET) as a theoretical framework. Most studies that have been included in the review of literature have been done in different contexts of social psychology such as sports/coaching, work, and education. One of the context that was researched extensively is education, however, physical education is one aspect of the general education realm that has not been studied with respect to the determinants of interpersonal style.

Although it has been clarified that most research have been conducted in an education setting, perhaps it would be helpful to understand why this particular study is investigating in a physical education setting and how those two domain are slightly different. In fact, physical education could be considered as a branch in education where the teachers will focus on physical activity as a topic. The reason why a physical education setting is unique in comparison with other education setting is that the physical education teachers will have a certain influence on students' involvement in physical activity. In effect, it is believed that physical education teachers are having a considerable influence on students active lifestyle and this is why this study is attempting to investigate the physical education setting in particular, rather than the general education setting.

The Present Study

Purpose

The present study will focus on the influence of different social and psychological determinants on physical education teachers' interpersonal style. Based on the literature (Blanchard et al., 1993; Flink et al., 1990), four different determinants will be studied: (a) the physical education teachers' perceptions of their working climate; (b) the physical education teachers' motivation toward their career; (c) the physical education teachers' perceptions of their students' perceptions towards physical activity.

Hypotheses

Based on the literature (Blais et al., 1993; Blanchard et al., 1993; Deci, Nezlek, & Sheinman, 1981; Flink et al., 1990), four hypotheses were formulated. With regards to the first determinant, it was hypothesized that (a) when physical education teachers perceive their working climate as being autonomy supportive, they be more likely to adopt an autonomy supportive style with their physical education students whereas, when they perceive their working climate as being controlling, they will be more likely to adopt a controlling style.

For the second determinant, it was predicted that (b) physical education teachers motivated in a self-determined way toward their career will exhibit a more autonomy supportive interpersonal style in the physical education context whereas, physical education teachers motivated in a non self-determined way toward their career will show a more controlling interpersonal style in this context.

For the third determinant, it was hypothesized that (c) physical education teachers motivated in a self-determined way toward physical activity will demonstrate a more autonomy supportive interpersonal style in the physical education context whereas, physical education teachers motivated in a non self-determined way toward physical activity will demonstrate a more controlling interpersonal style in this context.

And for the final determinant, it was postulated that (d) when physical education teachers perceive their students as being motivated in a self-determined way towards physical activity, they will be more likely to adopt an autonomy supportive interpersonal style whereas, when they perceive their students as being motivated in a non selfdetermined way in the physical education context, they will be more likely to adopt a controlling interpersonal style.

Significance of the Study

The present study is of importance because of its contribution to the domain of education and more precisely, physical education. One of the basic functions of a physical education teacher is to increase students' motivation towards physical activity so that they may adopt and maintain an active lifestyle. However, if physical education teachers adopt a controlling style, they risk undermining their students' motivation and, consequently, their participation in physical activity. Although the present study does not directly examine the link between the physical education teacher's interpersonal style and students' self-determined motivation, it does contribute to the body of knowledge on teaching styles. Specifically, it looks at the antecedents of interpersonal style and how these factors influence a physical education teacher to adopt an autonomy-supportive or controlling interpersonal style.

One of the reasons why the present study is important is that it will fill a gap. By looking at the determinants of interpersonal style, this study is examining an aspect of the literature that has not been researched extensively in the past. More specifically, hardly any studies have examined multiple determinants at the same time. In this study, multiple determinants are examined simultaneously. Also, not many studies have investigated the influence of the determinants on interpersonal style in the domain of physical education. Most research have been conducted in the education domain whereas this study examines these factors in a physical activity context.

From an applied perspective, this study could also be helpful in promoting specific interpersonal styles when educating future teachers by incorporating this literature in their programs. Finally, having a better knowledge about the influence of determinants of interpersonal style is very important because it will enable teachers to better understand the relationship between the determinants of interpersonal style and the actual style that they adopt. For instance, if physical education teachers know that their perception of student self-determined motivation has a definite influence on their style, perhaps they may be more inclined to adopt a style not based on their perceptions. Also, it might be a great idea for the school administration to create a more autonomy supportive climate helping teachers to be more autonomy supportive with their students and thus, promote students' self-determined motivation.

CHAPTER III

Methodology

Procedures

The process of data collection was twofold. A first data collection with physical education teachers from the Ottawa-Carleton Public School Board (OCPSB) was done through Dr. Michelle Fortier's Grant Project (SSHRC). The Grant Project is a major longitudinal research on adolescents physical activity and involved following and questionning 9th grade students, their parents and their physical education teachers over a two year period (four data collection waves: wave 1; Fall 1998, wave 2; Spring 1999, wave 3; Fall 1999, wave 4; Spring 2000). Physical education teachers' questionnaires from Wave 2 were used in this thesis project. Secondly, data collection with physical education teachers from the Ottawa-Carleton Catholic School Board (OCCSB) was done as a second part in order to obtain more teachers as well as to add my own contributions to this project.

Data Collection 1 (Grant Project)

First, consent for the grant project was obtained from the administrators of the school board (Ottawa-Carleton Public School Board) and school principals. Nine schools accepted to participate in this study. Meetings with the physical education teachers from the different schools were then held to inform them of the purpose of the study as well as the different steps involved in the data collection process. The researchers mentioned that the physical education teachers who wished to participate in the study were volunteers and that they could withdraw from the study at any point. Twenty-five physical education teachers out of 45 decided to participate. During data collection (early to mid-March 1999), standardized instructions were given to the physical education teachers in the

school gyms or physical education offices. The questionnaires were then completed by the teachers at their own leisure. The questionnaire took approximately 10 to 15 minutes to complete. Teachers then mailed back the questionnaire in a pre-paid envelope that was addressed to Dr. Michelle Fortier at the department of Human Kinetics.

Data Collection 2 (Additional Participants)

In order to obtain additional participants, 40 more physical education teachers from the Ottawa-Carleton Catholic School Board were contacted in May and September of 1999. Twenty-three physical education teachers from this board decided to participate in the study. The questionnaires were sent in September, 1999, because of a lack of response from the participants in the May 1999 session. The participants were asked to complete the same questionnaire according to the same guidelines as data collection 1.

Participants

A total of 48 grade nine physical education teachers from a number of different high schools in the Ottawa region participated in this study. As mentioned previously, 25 teachers were from the grant project (Ottawa-Carleton Public School Board) and 23 teachers were from the Ottawa-Carleton Catholic School Board. The participants were mixed in gender (48% female, 52% male) and had an average age of 36.36 years old. Furthermore, all participants were English-speaking as they all teach in the English language.

Questionnaire

The questionnaire was composed of five scales measuring the teachers' interpersonal style and the four determinants of the interpersonal style. The majority of the items were taken from previously validated scales and were assessed using a 7-point Likert scale ranging from (1) strongly disagree to (7) strongly agree. In the first section, teachers' self-perception of their interpersonal style was assessed. In the second section, participants responded to questions related to their motivation towards their career (determinant 1). The third section measured teachers' perceptions of their work climate (determinant 2). The fourth section measured teachers' motivation towards physical activity (determinant 3). The fifth section measured the teachers' perceptions of their 9th grade students' motivation towards physical activity (determinant 4). The final section of the questionnaire questioned the participants about their age, gender and name of their respective schools. See the Appendix for further details.

Measuring Physical Education Teachers' Interpersonal Style

Two subscales of the Perceptions of Interpersonal Style Questionnaire (PISQ -Pelletier, 1992) were used in the present study: the Controlling Interpersonal Style and the Autonomy Supportive Interpersonal Style. There were four items for each subscales. The general question asked in this section was "This year with my 9th grade physical education students...". An example of one item measuring the teachers' controlling interpersonal style (ISC) is "I have to continually watch the students". An example of one item measuring the teachers' autonomy supportive style (ISAS) is "I occasionally let the students choose the activities they want to do in class". The items for both of these subscales were combined in order to obtain one score for the interpersonal style (IS). In order to do this, the ISC items were recoded. When these eight items were joined together to become the dependent variable, interpersonal style, and the standardized alpha was .58.

Measuring the determinants of physical education teachers' interpersonal style

Perceptions of the Work Climate

This scale was slightly adapted from Blanchard et al.' (1993) Scale. There were two different subscales: Controlling Working Climate and, Autonomy Supportive Working Climate. Each subscale was composed of five items respectively. The general question asked in this section was "At my school, …". An example of one item measuring a controlling working climate (WCC) was "I am watched closely by my superiors". An example of one item measuring autonomy supportive working climate (WCAS) was "my superiors support my teaching initiatives". The items representing both autonomy supportive and controlling variables were combined and a score determining the general working climate (WC) was given. In order to do this, the WCC items were recoded. When all these items were joined together to become the independent variable working climate, the standardized alpha was .79.

Teachers' Motivation Towards Their Career

This scale was a shortened version of Blais et al.'s (1993) Work Motivation Inventory. There were four different subscales: Intrinsic Motivation toward work, Identified regulation toward work, External Regulation toward work and, Amotivation toward work. The Intrinsic Motivation toward work subscale was composed of two items (e.g., WIMT1W2) and had an alpha of .86. The Identified regulation toward work subscale was composed of two items (e.g., WIDT1W2) and had an alpha of .93. The External Regulation toward work subscale was composed of three items (e.g., WERT1W2) and had an alpha of .60. The Amotivation toward work subscale was composed of one item (e.g., WAMOTW2). The general question asked in this section was "In general, WHY DO you do teach physical education?". An example of one item measuring teachers' amotivation was "I don't know, I have the impression I am wasting my time". An example of one item measuring teachers' external regulation was "For the benefits associated with this type of job". An example of one item measuring teachers' identified regulation was "Because I chose this career because I value it". An example of one item measuring teachers' intrinsic motivation was "For the pleasure and satisfaction it gives me". The items reflecting the different types of motivation were combined to form one indicator (index) representing teachers' overall motivation toward their career (see Blais, Brière, Lachance, Riddle, & Vallerand, 1993; Pelletier et al., 1999). In order to obtain the INDEXMC (Index Motivation towards Career), a specific weight was given to each subscale according to their placement on the self-determination continuum. Intrinsic motivation and identified motivation items, because they are considered self-determined forms of motivation, were assigned the weights of +2, and +1, respectively. Moreover, amotivation and external regulation items, because they are considered less self-determined forms of motivation, were assigned the weights of -2, and -1, respectively. The equation (2*IM+ 1*ID)-(1*ER+2*AMOT) was used. The total score, ranging between -18 to 18, indicates the extent to which the physical education teacher is non self-determined towards their career (closer to -18) or self-determined towards their career (closer to 18).

Teachers' Motivation Towards Physical Activity

This scale was a shortened version of the Sport Motivation Scale (SMS, Pelletier et al., 1995). It was composed of three different subscales: Teachers' Intrinsic Motivation towards physical activity, Teachers' Self-Determined Motivation towards physical activity, and Teachers' Non Self-Determined Motivation towards physical activity. The Teachers' Intrinsic Motivation toward physical activity subscale was composed of two items (e.g., IMT1W2) and had an alpha of .66. The Teachers' Self-Determined Motivation toward physical activity subscale was composed of two items (e.g., SDT1W2) and had an alpha of .66. The Teachers' Self-Determined Motivation toward physical activity subscale was composed of two items (e.g., SDT1W2) and had an alpha of .73. The Teachers' Non Self-Determined Motivation toward physical activity subscale was composed of three items (e.g., NSDT1W2) and had an alpha of .54. The general question asked for this scale was "In general, when you do physical activity, WHY DO you do it?". An example of one item measuring teachers' intrinsic motivation towards physical activity was "for the pleasure and satisfaction it gives me". An example of one item measuring teachers' self-determined motivation towards physical activity was "because I choose to do it for my own good". An example of one item measuring teachers' non self-determined motivation towards physical activity was "because I would feel bad if I wasn't doing it". Based on previous studies (e.g., Grolnick & Ryan, 1987, 1989; Pelletier et al., 1999), the items reflecting the different types of motivation were combined to form one indicator representing teachers' overall motivation toward physical activity. In order to do this, the three NSDTW2 items were recoded and then all of the items from the three subscales (i.e., IMTW2, SDTW2, and NSDTW2) were added together and divided by the total number of items (7) to form the Index of Motivation towards Physical Activity (INDEXMPA). The total score, ranging between 1 to 7, indicates the extent to which the individual is non self-determined towards physical activity (closer to 1) or self-determined towards physical activity (closer to 7).

Perceptions of Students' Motivation Towards Physical Activity

This scale was adapted from the Sport Motivation Scale (SMS, Pelletier et al., 1995). There were three different subscales: Student's Intrinsic Motivation towards physical activity, Student's Self-Determined Motivation towards physical activity and, Student's Non Self-Determined Motivation towards physical activity. The Student's Intrinsic Motivation toward physical activity subscale was composed of two items (e.g., SIM1W2) and had an alpha of .82. The Student's Self-Determined Motivation toward physical activity subscale was composed of two items (e.g., SSD1W2) and had an alpha of .65. The Student's Non Self-Determined Motivation toward physical activity subscale

was composed of three items (e.g., SNSD1W2) and had an alpha of .70. The general question asked in this section was "I believe that the majority of my 9th grade students this year do the activities in class ...". An example of one item measuring teacher's perceptions of students being intrinsically motivated was "because they enjoy physical activity". An example of one item measuring teacher's perceptions of students being motivated in a self-determined way was "because they choose to do it for their own good". An example of one item measuring teacher's perceptions of students being motivated in a non self-determined way was "because they are afraid of being disciplined". The items reflecting the different types of motivation were combined (see Pelletier et al., 1999) to form one indicator representing teachers' perceptions of students' overall motivation toward physical activity. In order to do this, the three SNSDW2 items were recoded and then all of the items from the three subscales (i.e., SIMW2, SSDW2, SNSDW2) were added together and divided by the total number of items (7) to form the Index of Perception of Student's Motivation (INDEXPSM). The total score, ranging between 1 to 7, indicates the extent to which the physical education teachers perceived their students as being motivated in a non self-determined way towards physical activity (closer to 1) or motivated in a self-determined way towards physical activity (closer to 7).

CHAPTER IV

Results

The Statistical Package Software System (SPSS) software package was used in order to analyze the data. After cleaning the data bank in which the information from the questionnaires were disposed, preliminary analyses such as frequencies were performed in order to prepare the data for the main analyses. Also, reliabilities were performed in order to obtain alpha scores before creating the variables and indexes.

Correlations

Complex correlations was the first statistical analysis performed in order to verify the degree of relationship between the variables, specifically between the four determinants (Independent variables) and the interpersonal style (Dependent variable). When all these variables were correlated together, only two significant relationships were revealed (see table 1). First, a positive and significant coefficient was found between the Index for Teacher's Perception of Students' Motivation (INDEXPSM) and the interpersonal style (IS) $\mathbf{r} = .37$, $\mathbf{p} < .011$. This indicates that when physical education teachers perceived their students as being motivated in a self-determined way, they were more likely to adopt an autonomy supportive interpersonal style. Also, a positive coefficient was found between the Index for Teacher's Perception of Students' Motivation (INDEXPSM) and the Index for the teacher's own Motivation towards their Career (INDEXMC), $\mathbf{r} = .38$, $\mathbf{p} < .009$. This reveals that when the physical education teachers perceived their students as being motivated in a self-determined way, they were more likely to be motivated in a self-determined way, they were more likely to be motivated in a self-determined way, they were more likely to be motivated in a self-determined way towards their career. No further significant correlations were found between the variables.

Multiple Regression

Multiple regression was the second statistical analysis performed in order to establish the direction and strength of the relationships between the independent variables (the four determinants) and the dependent variable (the interpersonal style). It can be observed that out of the four independent variables (i.e., determinants), only the physical education teacher's perception of their student's motivation (INDEXPSM) was significantly related to the teacher's interpersonal style (beta = .37, p = .024) indicating that the more physical education teachers perceived their students as being motivated in a self-determined way, the more they adopted an autonomy supportive style. Results yielded an adjusted R squared of .15 (Multiple \underline{r} =.39) meaning that 15% of the variability between all of the independent variables (i.e., determinants) are due to the actual dependent variable (see Figure 1). The other independent variables did not show significant relationships with the dependent variable.

CHAPTER V

Discussion

This chapter presents a discussion where the purpose of the study along with the contributions of this research are restated. Next, each hypothesis is presented with respect to the predictions, the results found, and how these findings relate to past literature and theory. Furthermore, the limitations of the study will be discussed in light of the results obtained. Another part of the discussion will be suggesting changes and/or modifications to certain aspects of this research for future research. Following, there will be a section of the practical applications of the findings from this study and, finally, a brief conclusion.

The general purpose of this thesis was to investigate the social and psychological determinants of physical education teachers' interpersonal style. More specifically, we were interested in the factors that influence physical education teachers to adopt an autonomy supportive style versus a controlling interpersonal style. In this particular study, four determinants of the interpersonal style were investigated, namely: (a) the physical education teachers' perceptions of their working climate; (b) the physical education teachers' motivation towards their career; (c) the physical education teachers' perceptions of their students' motivation towards physical activity; and (d) the physical education teachers' perceptions of their students' motivation towards physical activity. The present study was of importance because it filled a gap in the literature by looking at the determinants of interpersonal style, an aspect that had not been researched extensively in the past. Also, of the studies that researched determinants of the interpersonal style, very few have examined multiple determinants at the same time. In this study, four determinants were examined simultaneously. Moreover, most research has been conducted in the education

domain, whereas this study examined these factors in a physical activity context. The findings of this research are explained in more details in the following sections.

Overview of Results

With regards to the first determinant (1), it was hypothesized that when physical education teachers perceived their working climate as being autonomy supportive, they would be more likely to adopt an autonomy supportive style with their physical education students whereas, when they perceived their working climate as being controlling, they would be more likely to adopt a controlling style. This hypothesis was based on past research (e.g., Blanchard, Perreault, & Pelletier, 1993; Deci & Ryan, 1987; Flink, Boggiano, & Barrett, 1990) showing that pressures being imposed on teachers (i.e., controlling working climate) incites them to adopt a more controlling interpersonal style. whereas, a less pressuring climate (i.e., autonomy supportive working climate) incites teachers to adopt a more autonomy supportive style. The reasoning behind the hypothesis was that teachers feeling competent, autonomous, and supported in their work context will be more likely to have a positive experience and reflect that by using an autonomysupportive style themselves. In turn, when teachers feel incompetent, controlled and pressured in their work context, they will be more like to have a negative experience and transfer that on their interpersonal style by being more controlling. Findings of the present study did not support the hypothesis as the working climate was not found to significantly influence interpersonal style. This hypothesis was possibly not supported because the teachers' perceptions of their working climate could have an influence on their motivation towards teaching physical education rather than on their interpersonal style. Perhaps, the working climate has some indirect effects on the teachers' interpersonal style but not enough to be a determinant of the style. Also, the working climate is a concept that could

be interpreted differently from one person to another. Perhaps, the fact that the working climate can be such a broad concept could have influenced the results. For example, the administrative constraints could have little or no effects on the teachers' interpersonal style as oppose to the relationship with the superiors.

For the second determinant (2), it was predicted that physical education teachers motivated in a self-determined way toward their career would exhibit a more autonomy supportive interpersonal style in the physical education context whereas, physical education teachers motivated in a non self-determined way toward their career would have a more controlling interpersonal style in this same context. The reasoning was that when the teachers engage in their teaching out of choice and personal satisfaction, they will experience a positive feeling and will be more likely to adopt a positive approach such as an autonomy-supportive interpersonal style. However, if the teachers go to work everyday because they are forced to, they will experience a more negative feeling and will be more likely to adopt a more negative approach such as a controlling interpersonal style. Findings from the present study did not support the hypothesis as the teachers' own motivation toward their career did not significantly influence their interpersonal style. These results contradict past research (e.g., Blais, Brière, Lachance, Riddle, & Vallerand, 1993; Blanchard, Perreault, Pelletier, 1993; Richer & Vallerand, 1996b) which indicated that teachers who are self-determined toward their teaching career have the tendency to use more autonomy supportive strategies compared with teachers that are non selfdetermined who seem to have the tendency to use more controlling strategies. Findings of the present study did not support the hypothesis as the teachers' own motivation toward their career was not found to significantly influence interpersonal style. The age of the participants as well as the years of experience could be factors explaining why the

hypothesis was not significantly supported. The fact that some of the teachers were close to the end of their career and some other were just at the beginning would explain a different perspective on how they feel about their career. Different factors would influence the motivation of teaching physical education to students with younger and older teachers. Also, younger teachers would have a different training experience in comparison with the older teachers that could influence their teaching style whether or not they are motivated in a self-determined way toward their career.

With regards to the third determinant (3), it was hypothesized that physical education teachers motivated in a self-determined way toward physical activity would demonstrate a more autonomy supportive interpersonal style in the physical education context whereas, physical education teachers motivated in a non self-determined way toward physical activity would exhibit a more controlling interpersonal style in this context. Findings from the present study did not support the hypothesis as the teachers' own motivation toward physical activity did not significantly influence their interpersonal style.

Although no studies were found in the literature examining this particular link, results from the previous studies (e.g., Amorose & Horn, 2000; Black & Weiss, 1992; Pelletier & Vallerand, 1985; Vallerand & Pelletier, 1985) provided sufficient information leading to the belief that one's self-determined motivation toward physical activity would influence one's interpersonal style. The reasoning is that when the teachers engage in physical activity because they enjoy it, they will experience a positive feeling about promoting physical activity to their students and will be more likely to adopt a positive approach such as an autonomy-supportive interpersonal style. Conversely, if the teachers do physical activity because they of external pressures, they will experience a more negative feeling about physical activity and will be more likely to adopt a more negative approach with their students such as a controlling interpersonal style. Thus, it was possible to deduce that when a teacher is intrinsically motivated toward physical activity, it is more likely that this teacher will have an autonomy supportive interpersonal style. Findings of the present study did not support the hypothesis as the teachers' own motivation toward physical activity was not found to significantly influence interpersonal style. The fact that no other study looked at this variable as a possible determinant of interpersonal style could potentially explain why it was not significantly supported. Perhaps, the teachers' motivation toward physical activity has little or no influence on the teaching style they will adopt because when they teach it is totally different than when they do physical activity themselves. Even though the teachers could be motivated in a self-determined way toward doing physical activity, it does not necessarily mean that they will be motivated to adopt a specific style with their students.

And for the final determinant (4), it was postulated that when physical education teachers perceived their students as being motivated in a self-determined way towards physical activity, they would be more likely to adopt an autonomy supportive interpersonal style whereas, when they perceived their students as being motivated in a non self-determined way in the physical education context, they would be more likely to adopt a controlling interpersonal style. This hypothesis was based on past research (Skinner & Belmont, 1996; Pelletier & Vallerand, 1996; Vallerand, Deci, & Ryan, 1987) which had found that when superiors (e.g., teachers) perceive subordinates (e.g., students) to be self-determined, they were more likely to act in an autonomy supportive style. Conversely, perceiving subordinates as being non self-determined led supervisors to act in a more controlling way toward them. The reasoning was that when the teachers feel that their students are motivated in what they teach, they will be affected positively by this enthusiasm and will be more likely to adopt a positive approach such as an autonomysupportive interpersonal style. Conversely, if the teachers feel that their students are not particularly involved in class, they will be affected negatively by this pessimistic attitude and will be more likely to adopt a more negative approach with their students such as a controlling interpersonal style. Results from the present study supported the hypothesis that was proposed as a positive and significant relation was found. This means that the teachers' perceptions of their students' motivation influenced their interpersonal style.

Limitations

The fact that one hypothesis out of four proposed in the present research was significantly supported raises some questions about the limitations of the study. The first factor having a direct effect on the results is the number of participants. In fact, this study is examining multiple determinants simultaneously and only 48 physical education teachers account for the findings. A greater number of participants would more than likely have an influence on the results by increasing the power of the statistical test and perhaps yielding more significant results.

The fact that only two different interpersonal styles (i.e., autonomy-supportive and controlling) were studied when a third interpersonal style (i.e., laissez-faire) is proposed in the literature could also be a limitation. Although most previous research in the domain of interpersonal styles have been conducted using only the autonomy-supportive and controlling style, the laissez-faire style could be more important than what was predicted. Since the interpersonal styles could be placed on a continuum, where autonomy-supportive and supportive and controlling would be on opposite ends, a laissez-faire style would be more in the middle of the continuum. Some of the teachers that participated in the research

could have been adopting that laissez-faire style and since that interpersonal style was not being measured, the results could have been influenced by this factor.

Social desirability is an important psychological concept that also needs to be accounted for in this research. In fact, the physical education teachers were all given the freedom of completing the questionnaire at their own will and to mail it back when they were ready. It might be implied that those teachers that did not fill out and return the questionnaire did not want to reveal information about their teaching behaviors. And one reason why they did not want to divulge their thoughts about their teaching styles might be the fear of disclosing, for example, a controlling interpersonal style or unsatisfactory work conditions. Furthermore, those teachers who decided to participate might have done so because they were more willing to be socially desirable and reveal positive behaviors related to their work.

One of the most important limitations that exist with any type of research is the threat to internal validity. This also applies to this correlational research because the purpose is to look for the explanation of relationships between two or more variables. In fact, the problem with correlational studies is that the researcher has to be aware that the relationships might have alternative explanations. Extraneous variables (e.g., years of experience, age, time of the year) are factors that need to be accounted for in order to prevent false interpretations of the relationships. And the results of this study indicate that the relationships between the determinants and the teaching style do not account for much of the variance. This is why it is important to be aware that these extraneous variables might affect the relationships and thus, bias the findings and the conclusions.

Another limitation to this study is the reliability level of some of the scales measuring the physical education teachers' interpersonal style as well as the determinants.

In fact, the alpha level for the variable measuring the physical education teachers' interpersonal style was .58, which is considered too low in comparison with the acceptable level of .70. Since the physical education teachers' interpersonal style is the main variable (i.e., dependent variable) being measured, the fact that its alpha level proves to be unreliable could be influencing the results of the whole study. Moreover, the alpha level for the external regulation toward work subscale measuring the teachers' motivation towards their career was .60, which is again lower than the acceptable level of .70.

The questionnaire was composed of different previously validated scales, but every scale was slightly shortened/modified. This could be a factor explaining the alpha levels for these two instances being lower than the acceptable levels and therefore, affect the reliability and validity of the results obtained in this study.

Finally, perhaps the model proposed in this study is more complex than what was hypothesized. In fact, there is a possibility that more determinants could explain and influence physical education teachers' interpersonal style. In such a case, it would be primordial to study other determinants that could potentially affect the relationships. Also, there might be more complicated interactions between all the determinants explaining the findings. For example, it could be possible that the physical education teachers' working climate has an influence on teachers' motivation towards their career which, subsequently, influences teachers' interpersonal style.

Future Research

In light of the previous findings, suggestions are proposed for future research in order to clarify and increase the knowledge about the determinants of interpersonal style. First, it is recommended to increase the sample size to at least 100 participants in order to obtain a better representation of the population and increase the power of the statistical test. Also, an attempt to get the teachers to fill out the questionnaire on the spot. That would not only increase the number of participants but insure that more teachers in the schools participate and not only those who want to be socially desirable. Perhaps the findings would reveal a better distribution of teachers using a controlling or an autonomy supportive interpersonal style.

A multi-method approach where there would be a combination of a quantitative and qualitative phase would perhaps be a great recommendation. In fact, this approach would enable a follow-up to the questionnaire part with observations and/or interview component in order to increase the amount of information on the topic. For instance, an observing phase where the teachers' interpersonal style is examined might enable the researcher to find out about the use of autonomy supportive or controlling style of the teachers with their students. Also, interviews with physical education teachers could help obtaining additional information about how the teachers feel about their work climate, their perceptions of students' motivation and/or their own motivation towards physical activity. The idea behind the use of a multi-method approach is to obtain more information on a specific topic using different analysis techniques. Once the researcher gets the quantitative data, a more qualitative approach might enable to better understand and interpret the findings by going further into the analysis.

Finally, a further exploration for more details about the determinants of interpersonal style and how they can affect an individual to act in a particular way might be useful. In fact, some determinants of the interpersonal style could be considered as being proximal, which means that they have a direct influence on the style one would adopt. For instance, physical education teachers being motivated in a self-determined way and using an autonomy supportive interpersonal style would be an example of a proximal determinant. Conversely, some determinants of the interpersonal style could be considered as being distal, which means that they have an indirect influence on the style one would adopt. For instance, a controlling working climate might influence physical education teachers' motivation toward their career and then have affect on their interpersonal style. That would be an example of a distal determinant (i.e., controlling working climate) having an indirect influence on the type of interpersonal style one would adopt. The proximal and distal determinant concepts bring a need for questioning and more research to find out which of factors affect the interpersonal style directly or indirectly.

Practical Applications

From an applied perspective, this study could also be helpful in promoting specific interpersonal styles when educating future teachers. Indeed, it might be good for future teachers to be aware of the existence of different interpersonal style, what influences them to adopt a specific style and, the influence of their style on students' motivation. In doing so, physical education teachers might better understand the relationships between the determinants of interpersonal style and the actual style that they adopt. For example, knowing that the working climate has an influence on the physical education teachers interpersonal style, perhaps there would be more attention given to this aspect by the schools' administration and they would try to install a more autonomy supportive working climate. This could have considerable implications for educational systems, for it would suggest that the more school systems pressure teachers to make the students perform up to standards, the more teachers will be controlling rather than autonomy supportive with their students, and hence the more students' intrinsic motivation and self-esteem will be undermined.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the purpose of this thesis was to investigate the social and psychological determinants of physical education teachers' interpersonal style. The theoretical framework of this study was Deci and Ryan's (1985, 1991) Cognitive Evaluation Theory (CET). This correlational study was examining the influence of (a) the teachers' perceptions of their working climate, (b) teachers' own motivation toward physical activity, (c) teachers' own motivation toward their career, and (d) teachers' perceptions of their students' motivation towards physical activity on the physical education teachers interpersonal style (autonomy supportive versus controlling interpersonal style). Data were analyzed using multiple regression in order to find relationships between the determinants of interpersonal style and physical education teachers' interpersonal style. The findings from this research reveal that one hypothesis only was supported. When physical education teachers perceived their students as being motivated in a self-determined way towards physical activity, they were more likely to adopt an autonomy supportive interpersonal style whereas, when they perceived their students as being motivated in a non self-determined way in the physical education context, they are more likely to adopt a controlling interpersonal style. However, the three other hypotheses were not significantly supported.

In terms of limitations to this study, the number of participants was a problem affecting the results obtained. Also, the administration of the questionnaire and the concept of social desirability were raised as factors influencing the findings. Using a multi-method approach and investigating the distal/proximal concept further have been proposed as ideas for future research in the domain. Practically, more research on the topic would enable physical education teachers to better understand the relationships between the antecedents of interpersonal style and the actual style that they adopt in their gym and/or classroom.

Reference

Amorose, A.J., & Horn, T.S. (2000). Intrinsic motivation: Relationships with collegiate athletes' gender, scholarship status, and perceptions of their coaches' behavior. Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology, 2000, 22, 63-84.

Artaud, G. (1989). L'intervention éducative: Au delà de l'autoritarisme et du laisser-faire. Les Presses de l'Université d'Ottawa, Canada.

Black, S.J. & Weiss, M.R. (1992). The relationship among perceived coaching behaviors, perceptions of ability, and motivation in competitive age-group swimmers. Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology, 14, 309-325.

Blais, M.R., Brière, M.M., Lachance, L., Riddle, A.S., & Vallerand, R.J. (1993). L'Inventaire des motivations au travail de Blais. <u>Revue Québécoise de Psychologie, 14</u>, 185-215.

Blais, M.R., Sabourin, S., Boucher, C., & Vallerand, R.J. (1990). Toward a motivational model of couple happiness. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 59, 1021-1031.

Blanchard, C., Perreault, Y., & Pelletier, L.G. (1993). Les déterminants du style interpersonnel de l'enseignant. <u>Paper presented at the annual congress of la Société</u> <u>Québécoise de Recherche en Psychologie, Québec</u>.

Blanchard, C., & Vallerand, R.J. (1996b). Perceptions of competence, autonomy, and relatedness as psychological mediators of the social factors-contextual motivation relationship. <u>Manuscipt in preparation</u>, Université du Québec a Montréal.

Brière, N.M., Vallerand, R.J., Blais, M.R., & Pelletier, L.G., (1995). Développement et validation d'une mesure de motivation intrinsèque, extrinsèque et d'amotivation en contexte sportif: l'Échelle de Motivation dans les Sports (EMS).

International Journal of Sport Psychology, 26, 465-489.

Brophy, J. (1986). Teacher influences on student achievement. <u>American</u> Psychologist, 41(10), 1069-1077.

Deci, E.L., Connell, J.P., & Ryan, R.M. (1989). Self-determination in a work organisation. Journal of Applied Psychology, 74, 580-590.

Deci, E.L., Nezlek, J., & Sheinman, L. (1981). Characteristics of the rewarder and intrinsic motivation of the rewardee. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 40, 1-10.

Deci, E.L., & Ryan, R.M. (1982a). Curiosity and self-directed learning: The role of motivation in education. In L. Katz (Ed.), <u>Current topics in early childhood education</u> (Vol.4). Norwood, N.J.: Ablex.

Deci, E.L., & Ryan, R.M. (1982b). Intrinsic motivation to teach: Possibilities and obstacles in our colleges and universities. In J. Bess (Ed.), <u>New directions in teaching and learning</u>. San Fransisco: Jossey-Bass.

Deci, E.L. & Ryan, R.M. (1985). <u>Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in</u> <u>human behavior</u>. Plenum Press. New York.

Deci, E.L., & Ryan, R.M. (1987). The support of autonomy and the control of behavior. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 53, 1024-1037.

Deci, E.L., & Ryan, R.M. (1991). A motivational approach to self: Integration in personality. In R. Dienstbier (Ed.), <u>Nebraska symposium on motivation: Vol. 38.</u> <u>Perspectives on motivation</u> (pp.237-288). Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press. Deci, E.L., Schwartz, A.J., Sheinman, L., & Ryan, R.M. (1981). An instrument to assess adults' orientation toward control versus autonomy with children: Reflections on intrinsic motivation and competence. Journal of Educational Psychology, 73, 642-650.

Deci, E.L., Speigel, N.H., Ryan, R.M., Koestner, R. & Kauffman, M. (1982). The effects of performance standards on teaching styles: The behavior of controlling teachers. Journal of Educational Psychology, 74, 852-859.

Enzle, M.E., Wright, E.F., & Redondo, I.M. (1996). Cross-task generalization of intrinsic motivation effects. <u>Canadian Journal of Behavioral Science, 28</u>, 19-26.

Flink, C., Bogganio, A.K. & Barrett, M. (1990). Controlling Teaching Strategies: Undermining Children's Self-Determination and Performance. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 59, (5) 916-924.

Florence, J., Brunelle, J., Carlier, G. (1998). <u>Enseigner l'éducation physique au</u> <u>secondaire: Motiver, aider a apprendre, vivre une relation éducative</u>. Les Presses de l'Université Laval, Canada.

Fortier, M., Kowal, J., Grenier, M., & Leblanc, A. (1996). <u>Reciprocal effects of</u> <u>physical education teachers' interpersonal style and students' self-determined motivation</u>. Presented at the A.A.A.S.P. conference in Williamsburg, Virginia.

Garbarino, J. (1975). The impact of anticipated reward upon cross-aged tutoring. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 32, 421-428.

Gottfried, A.E., Fleming, J.S. & Gottfried, A.W. (1994). Role of parental motivational practices in children's academic intrinsic motivation and achievement. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 86, 104-113.

Goudas, M., Biddle, S.J.H., Fox, K. & Underwood, M. (1995). It Ain't What You Do, It's the Way You Do It! Teaching Style Affects Children's Motivation in Track and Field Lessons. <u>Journal of Teaching in Physical Education</u>, 9, (3), 254-264.

Grolnick, W.S. & Ryan, R.M. (1989). Parent styles associated with children's selfregulation and competence in school. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 52, 890-898.

Grolnick, W.S., Ryan, R.M. & Deci, E.L. (1991). Inner resources for school achievement: Motivational mediators of children's perceptions of their parents. <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u>, 83, 508-517.

Harackiewicz, J., M., & Larson J.R. (1986). Managing motivation: The impact of supervisor feedback on subordinate task interest. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 47, 287-300.

Hellison, D.R., & Templin, T.J. (1991). <u>A reflective approach to teaching physical</u> education. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.

Meece, J.L. (1991). The classroom context and students' motivational goals. In M. Maehr & P. Pintrich (Eds.), <u>Advances in motivation and achievement</u> (Vol. 7, pp.261-285). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.

Pangrazi, R., & Dauer, V. (1992). <u>Dynamic physical education for elementary</u> <u>school children</u> (10th ed.). New York: Macmillan.

Pelletier, L.G. (1992). Construction et validation de l'Échelle des Perceptions du Style Interpersonnel (Construction and validation of the Perceptions of Significant Others Interpersonal Style Scale). <u>Unpublished manuscript</u>, Ottawa, University of Ottawa. Pelletier, L.G., Fortier, M.S., Vallerand, R.J., & Brière, N.M. (2000). Perceived autonomy support, levels of self-determination and persistence: A longitudinal study. <u>Basic and Applied Social Psychology.</u>

Pelletier, L.G., Fortier, M.S., Vallerand, R.J., Tuson, K.M., Brière, N.M., & Blais, M.R. (1995). Toward a New Measure of Intrinsic Motivation, Extrinsic Motivation, and Amotivation in Sports: The Sport Motivation Scale (SMS). Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, 17, (1), 35-53.

Pelletier, L.G., & Vallerand, R.J. (1985). Effects of coaches' interpersonal behavior on athletes' motivational level. Paper presented at the annual conference of the Canadian Society for Psychomotor Learning and Sport Psychology, Montreal.

Pelletier, L.G., & Vallerand, R.J. (1996). Supervisors' beliefs and subordinates' intrinsic motivation. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 71, 331-340.

Richer, S., & Vallerand, R.J. (1996b). <u>The role of relatedness in turnover</u> <u>intentions: A motivational model.</u> Manuscript submitted for publication.

Rink, J.E. (1998). <u>Teaching physical education for learning</u> (3^e ed.). McGraw-Hill Companies: USA.

Ryan, R.M., & Grolnick, W.S. (1986). Origins and pawns in the classroom: Selfreport and projective assessments of individual differences in children's perceptions. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 50, 550-558.

Ryan, R.M., Mims, V., & Koestner, R. <u>The relationship of reward contingency</u> and interpersonal context to intrinsic motivation: A test of cognitive evaluation theory. Unpublished manuscript, University of Rochesther, 1982.

Ryan, R.M., & Stiller, J. (1991). The social contexts of internalization: Parent and teacher influences on autonomy, motivation and learning. In P.R. Pintrich & M.L. Maehr

(Eds.), <u>Advances in motivation and achievement: Vol.7. Goals and self-regulatory</u> processes (pp.115-149). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.

Sallis, J.F., Simmons-Morton, B., Stone, E., Corbin, C., Epstein, L.H., Faucette, N., Iannotti, R., Killen, J., Klesges, R., Petray, C., Rowland, T., & Taylor, W. (1992). Determinants of physical activity and interventions in youth. <u>Medicine and Science in</u> <u>Sports and Exercise, 24</u> (Suppl.), S248-S257.

Seligman, M.E.P. (1975). <u>Helplessness: On depression, development, and death.</u> San Fransisco: Jossey-Bass.

Skinner, E.A. (1995). <u>Perceived control, motivation, & coping.</u> Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Skinner, E.A., & Belmont, M.J. (1993). Motivation in the Classroom: Reciprocal Effects of Teacher Behavior and Student Engagement Across the School Year. <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u>, 85, (4), 571-581.

Telama, R. (1999). Moral development. In Y. Vanden Auweele, F. Bakker, S.

Biddle, M. Durand, R. Seiler (Eds.), <u>Psychology for physical educators</u> (pp. 321-342). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.

Vallerand, R.J., & Bissonnette, R. (1992). Intrinsic, extrinsic, and amotivational styles as predictors of behavior: A prospective study. Journal of Personality, 60, 599-620.

Vallerand, R.J., Blais, M.R., Brière, N.M., & Pelletier, L.G. (1989). Construction et validation de l'Échelle de motivation en éducation (EME) (On the construction and validation of the French form of the Academic Motivation Scale). <u>Canadian Journal of</u> <u>Behavioral Science, 21</u>, 323-349. Vallerand, R.J., Deci, E.L. & Ryan, R.M. (1987) Intrinsic Motivation in Sport. In K. Pandolf (Ed.), Exercise and sport science reviews. (pp.389-425). New York: McMillan.

Vallerand, R.J., Fortier, M.S., & Guay, F. (1997). Self-determination and persistence in a real-life setting: Toward a motivational model of high school dropout. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 72, 1161-1176.

Vallerand, R.J., Pelletier, L.G. (1985). <u>Coaches' interpersonal styles, athletes'</u> perceptions of their coaches' styles, and athletes' intrinsic motivation and perceived <u>competence: Generalization to the world of swimming</u>. Paper presented at the annual conferences of the Canadian Society for Psychomotor Learning and Sport Psychology, Montreal.

Vallerand, R.J., Pelletier, L.G., Blais, M.R., Brière, N.M., Sénécal, C., & Vallières, E.F. (1992). The Academic Motivation Scale: A measure of intrinsic, extrinsic, and amotivation in education. <u>Educational and Psychological Measurement, 52</u>, 1003-1019.

Vallerand, R.J., Pelletier, L.G., Blais, M.R., Brière, N.M., Sénécal, C., & Vallières, E.F. (1993). On the assessment of intrinsic, extrinsic, and amotivation in education: Evidence on the concurrent and construct validity of the Academic Motivation Scale. <u>Educational and Psychological Measurement, 53</u>, 159-172.

Williams, G.C., Grow, V.M., Freedman, Z.R., Ryan, R.M., & Deci, E.L. (1996). Motivational predictors of weight loss and weight-loss maintenance. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Personality and Social Psychology, 70</u>, 115-126. **Appendix**

WE NEED <u>YOUR HELP</u> FOR THIS IMPORTANT STUDY, IT WILL ONLY TAKE <u>15 MINUTES</u> TO FILL OUT THIS QUESTIONNAIRE AND YOU HAVE THE CHANCE TO WIN A <u>150\$ PRIZE</u> AND TO HELP CANADIAN YOUTHS

Letter of Information for physical education teachers

This research project is being conducted by Dr. Michelle Fortier from the University of Ottawa. If, for any reason, you would like to contact Dr. Fortier regarding this study, she can be reached at the following address/number:

Dr. Michelle Fortier, Assistant Professor, School of Human Kinetics, University of Ottawa Tel: 562-5800 Ext. 4275

For any additional information concerning ethical issues, you may also contact:

Dr. Roger Proulx, President of the Ethics Committee Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Ottawa Tel: 562-5800 Ext. 8055

<u>Purpose</u>: The objective of this study is to understand why certain youths regularly engage in physical activity while others tend to be inactive. We are particularly interested in examining what motivates youths to adopt and/or maintain an active healthy lifestyle. In order to better understand this important phenomenon we require the participation of your 9th grade students and your participation in this study. Results will ultimately be used to develop programs aimed at enhancing youths' motivation towards physical activity so that they may adopt and maintain an active healthy lifestyle and thus benefit from the numerous advantages of regular physical activity.

Requirements: The only requirements are for you to answer a brief questionnaire (it is not a test) at 2 different times over the next year (November 1998 and March 1999). The questionnaire will assess your attitudes, perceptions and behaviors towards physical activity. Data collection will take place in your physical education class (at your convenience), and should last approximately 25 minutes. You will complete your questionnaire at the same time as your students answer their questionnaire or shortly after (in the latter case we will pick it up the next day when we return for data collection). Your participation is completely voluntary and you may withdraw from this study at any time without fear of any negative consequences.

There are **NO** risks or discomforts involved in this study. We only require that you answer a short questionnaire on 2 separate occasions over the next year.

<u>Anonymity and Confidentiality:</u> You do not have to identify yourself (i.e. to put your name on the questionnaire) at anytime during the study. In this way, anonymity can be assured. However your responses will be matched with those of your students. Only the members of the research team will have access to the data with this information being completely confidential and used only for the purposes of this study (nothing will appear in school records). In addition, the questionnaires will be kept at the University of Ottawa in Dr. Fortier's laboratory. Finally, the data will be analyzed and presented in an aggregate format (everyone together) thus, individual responses will not be identifiable.

For your Information: This research project has been approved by the Ottawa-Carleton Research Advisory Committee and by the principal of your school. If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study, please do not hesitate to contact us at the previously indicated number. If desired, you may also obtain a summary of the overall results once the study has been completed. If interested, please contact Dr. Fortier.

Thank you for your time and cooperation!

Researcher:_____

ATTITUDES AND PERCEPTIONS TOWARDS PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND HEALTH

We are presently conducting an important study which aims to better understand <u>adolescents</u>' and <u>physical education teachers</u>' attitudes, perceptions and behaviors towards physical activity and health. Please read each question carefully and indicate the extent to which the question corresponds to <u>YOUR</u> <u>personal experience/opinion</u>. WE ARE NOT INTERESTED IN EVALUATING YOUR TEACHING, WE JUST WANT TO KNOW YOUR THOUGHTS AND FEELINGS ABOUT DIFFERENT PHYSICAL ACTIVITY/HEALTH ISSUES. It is important to answer, i.e., circle a number or choose an option for <u>EVERY</u> <u>question</u>.

This is neither a test nor an evaluation. <u>Therefore, there are no right</u> <u>or wrong answers</u>. We are simply interested in your <u>HONEST</u> responses to the questions and ask that you respond as <u>SERIOUSLY</u> and <u>TRUTHFULLY</u> as possible. It is important to carefully read all of the instructions.

You do not have to write your name on the questionnaire, therefore we <u>CANNOT identify you</u>. However for the study to be conducted successfully, we require your date of birth and the last 4 digits of your telephone number (for identification purposes only). <u>The information that you provide us with is strictly</u> <u>confidential (private) and will be used for research purposes only</u>. No one except us will see your questionnaire.

IMPORTANT

YOUR DATE OF BIRTH (DAY/MONTH/YEAR): ____/ ___/

LAST 4 DIGITS OF YOUR TELEPHONE NUMBER : _____

Thank you VERY MUCH for your participation. Michelle Fortier, Ph.D. School of Human Kinetics University of Ottawa

1. MOTIVATION TOWARDS PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

Using the scale below, please indicate <u>the degree to which you agree with</u> the following items concerning your <u>REASONS</u> FOR DOING PHYSICAL ACTIVITY.

Strongly Disac	Moderat	ely Agree					Strongly	y Agree		
1	2	3	4		5		6		7	,
In general, who	en you do phy	sical activity,		ou do i	t?					
-		•	-							
1. because I w	ould feel bad									
	oing it. (NSD)		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
2. to feel better			1	2 2	3 3	4	5 5	6	7	
3. for the please	sure and satis	sfaction								
it gives me.	(IMT)		1	2 2	3	4	5	6	7	
4. because I fe	el I have to. (NSDT)	1	2	3 3	4	5 5	6	7	
5. because I c	hoose to do if	for								
my own goo	od. (SDT)		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
6. to improve m	iy appearance	•	1	2	3 3	4	5	6	7	
7. because I w	ant to. (SDT)		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
8. because l er			1	2	3 3	4	5 5 5 5	6	7	
9. to please or	impress othe	ers. (NSDT)	1	2	3	4		6	7	
10. to improve n	ny health.		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	

-

2. MOTIVATION TOWARDS YOUR CAREER

Using the scale below, please indicate <u>the degree to which you agree with</u> the following items concerning your <u>REASONS</u> FOR TEACHING PHYSICAL EDUCATION.

St	rongly Disagree M	oderately Agree					St	rongly Agree
	1 2 3	4		5		6		7
In	general, WHY DO you do teach p	hysical education?						
1.	For the pleasure and satisfactio	n						
	it gives me. (IM)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.	I don't know, I have the impress	ion I am						
	wasting my time. (AMOT)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.	For the benefits associated with	l						
	this type of job. (ER)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4.	Because I must succeed in this job	o or						
	I will feel bad.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5.	For the money. (ERT)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6.	Because I chose this career							
	because I value it. (IDT)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7.	Because I feel I have to.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8.	Because I want to. (IDT)	1	2	3	4	5 5 5	6	7
9.	To please or impress others. (El	RT) 1	2	3	4		6	7
10	. Because I enjoy it. (IMT)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

3. WORK CLIMATE

The following statements concern the work climate at your school. Using the scale below, please indicate to what extent you agree with the following items by circling the appropriate number.

Strongly Disagree	Modera	tely Agree					St	rongly Ag
1 2	3	4		5		6		7
AT MY SCHOOL,								
1 I am watched closely	ру		~	2		-	<u> </u>	7
my superiors. (WCC)		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2 I must conform to rigid			_	•		_	-	_
teaching methods. (We		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3 the work norms are to		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4 my superiors support			_	-		_	-	_
teaching initiatives. (W	•	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5 I am free to participate			-	-		_	-	_
not in extra activities.		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6 there is a lot of compe			-	-		_	_	
between teachers. (WCC)		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7 my superiors impose t	• •							
and ways of doing th	ings on me. (WCC) 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8 my superiors ask too	much of me.	(WCC) 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9 my superiors regularly	implicate me	in the						
decision process. (WC		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10my superiors often crit		C) 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
11my superiors consider		-, .	-	•	•	Ū	Ū	•
and/or feelings. (WCAS		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
12 I frequently have the o		·	-	Ū	•	Ŭ	Ŭ	,
to make my own decisi								
comes to my teaching		1	2	2		F	~	7
comes to my teaching	. (WCA3)	I	2	3	4	5	6	7
13my superiors make me								
don't do enough. (WCC		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
14my superiors regularly	ask for my su	ggestions						
and/or opinions. (WCA	S)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

4. INTERPERSONAL STYLE

The following statements concern the way that you interact with your 9th grade students this year. Using the scale below, please indicate <u>to what extent you agree</u> with the following items by circling the appropriate number.

Strongly Disagree	Moderatel 3	y Agree		5		6	<u>Şt</u>	rongly Agree
1 2	3	-		5		0		1
THIS YEAR WITH MY 9	TH GRADE PH	IYSICAL	EDUC	CATIC	ON ST	UDEN	ITS	
1 I use a lot positive feedb	back.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2 I have to continually w the students. (ISC)	atch	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3 I occasionally let the s they want to do in clas		the activitie 1	e s 2	3	4	5	6	7
 i encourage students to out-perform classmates.		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5 I try to foster students much as possible. (ISA		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I remind the students of that they can improve m		ently so 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7 I often have to push th different activities in c		the 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8 I occasionally ask the and/or their comments		r suggestio 1	ns 2	3	4	5	6	7
9 I have to discipline the students regularly. (ISC		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10 I try to create situatior their own decisions. (I		lents get to 1	o make 2	3	4	5	6	7
11 I regularly explain to the different activities in c	he students why lass. (ISAS)	they have 1	to do t 2	he 3	4	5	6	7
12 I occasionally let the s their own way. (ISAS)	students do the a	ictivities 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
13 I frequently congratulate do something well.	the students whe	en they 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
14 I encourage the student	s to help one anot	her. 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
15 I get angry when the st many mistakes. (ISC)	tudents make	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

 I give more attention to the better students in the class. 	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
17 I encourage the students to work on their indiv weaknesses.	idual 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
 I try to allow students the possibility of working at their own pace.) 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
19 I encourage the students to try to be better tha students in the class.	n the o 1	ther 2	3	4	5	6	7
20 I occasionally let the students choose what to do in class. (ISAS)	they v 1	vant 2	3	4	5	6	7
21 I encourage the students to speak their min and to ask questions. (ISAS)	ds 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
22 I regularly have to put pressure on the stud to do the activities. (ISC)	ents fo 1	or then 2	1 3	4	5	6	7
 I try to create a competitive atmosphere in class. 	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
24 I try to emphasize that each student's improver is equally important.	nent 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
25 I have favorites.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
26 The focus of the class is on individual improvement.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
27 I emphasize doing better than classmates.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
28 I frequently compliment the students.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

-

5. YOUR PERCEPTIONS OF YOUR 9TH GRADE STUDENTS' MOTIVATION THIS YEAR

The following statements concern the your perceptions of your 9th grade students this year. Using the scale below, please indicate <u>to what extent you agree</u> with the following items by circling the appropriate number.

Strongly Disa	agree	Modera	tely Agree			Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

B) I believe that the majority of my 9th grade students this year do the activities in class..

 because they are afraid of being disciplined. (SNSD) 	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2 because they enjoy		-	-	•	•	•	•
physical activity. (SIM)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3 to improve their health.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4 because they choose to do it for							
their own good. (SSD)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5 for the satisfaction and							
pleasure it gives them. (SIM)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6 because they want to be well							
perceived by others. (SNSD)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7 because they feel they have to. (SNSD)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8 because they want to. (SSD)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9 to improve their appearance.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10 to please me. (SNSD)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

6. BACKGROUND

Age : _____

Gender:	Female	Male
---------	--------	------

Name of your school: _

WE THANK YOU VERY MUCH FOR YOUR PARTICIPATION!

IF YOU HAVE DONE THE QUESTIONNAIRE ON YOUR OWN TIME <u>PLEASE</u>: 1) PUT THE QUESTIONNAIRE IN THE ACCOMPANYING PRE-PAID ENVELOP, 2) SEAL IT AND 3) MAIL IT TO THE UNIVERSITY OF OTTAWA . NO ONE WILL BE LOOKING AT YOUR QUESTIONNAIRE EXCEPT THE U OF O RESEARCH TEAM

Total sample (N=48)			(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Interpersonal Style (1) STYLE	<u>M</u> 4.25	<u>SD</u> 2.31	1,00				
Working Climate (2) WC	5.13	2.16	-0.05	1.00			
Motivation Toward Physical Activity (3) INDEXMPA	5.53	0.67	0.15	0.18	1.00		
Motivation Toward Career (4) INDEX MC	12.25	5.06	0.09	0.19	-0.01	1.00	
Perception of Student Motivation (5) INDEXPSM	4.65	0.76	0.37**	0.13	0.24	0.38**	1.00

Table 1 Correlation coefficients for the interpersonal style and the four determinants

**<u>p</u> < .01.

Figure captions

Figure 1. Multiple regression between the interpersonal style and the four determinants.

